

Table of Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	2
2. BASIC PRINCIPLES	2
3. OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES	3
4. VARIATIONS TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES	5
5. EXEMPTIONS	
6. RELEVANT CONTRACTS	
7. RISK ASSESSMENT	10
8. PRE-TENDER MARKET TESTING AND CONSULTATION	
9. COMPETITION REQUIREMENTS	11
10. INVITATION TO TENDER / REQUEST FOR QUOTATION	
11. SHORTLISTING	
12. SUBMISSION, RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS	14
13. EVALUATION CRITERIA AND STANDARDS	
14. CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES	
15. AWARD OF CONTRACT, AND DEBRIEFING OF ORGANISATIONS	
16. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS	18
17. APPROVED LISTS AND FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS	
18. SUB CONTRACTORS	
19. RECORDS	
20. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION & DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS	
21. CONTRACT MANAGEMENT/MONITORING	
23. EXTERNAL BODY CONTRACT FUNDING	
24. REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF CPRs	



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 What are Contract Procedure Rules?

- 1.1.1 The Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) provide the framework for procurement activity across the Council, setting out how contracts for goods, works, services and utilities should be put in place and managed, and detailing the record keeping and reporting requirements related to procurement activity. They apply to all Service Groupings across the Council.
- 1.1.2 To avoid the need for regular amendment due to changes in post titles generic terms are included for officers as follows:
 - (a) The term "Chief Officers" refers to the Council's Chief Executive and Corporate Directors.
 - (b) The term "Procurement Officer" refers to any officer of the Council responsible for carrying out a procurement exercise – not just to officers with "Procurement Officer" as their job title. Any Council officer undertaking a procurement exercise is a "Procurement Officer" for the purposes of these rules.
 - (c) In addition to the above definitions, the general term "officer" refers to any employee of the Council.
- 1.1.3 The Contract Procedure Rules should not be seen in isolation, but rather as part of the overall regulatory framework of the Council as set out in the Constitution.
- 1.1.4 The content of these CPRs is supported by additional guidance and documentation contained in the Advice Centre in the "Procurement Catalogue" section of the Council intranet (henceforth referred to as the "Advice Centre").
- 1.1.5 These CPRs observe the requirements of UK legislation namely the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCRs) and, in addition to ongoing amendments and updates as issued by the Cabinet Office in the form of Procurement Policy Notes. <u>These CPRs will also adhere to new procurement legislation as and when introduced and to be updated accordingly.</u>

2. BASIC PRINCIPLES

2.1 All procurement procedures must:

4G

- (a) Realise value for money by seeking to achieve the optimum combination of whole life costs and quality of outcome,
- (a) Be consistent with the highest standards of integrity,
- (b) Operate in a transparent manner,
- (c) Ensure fairness in allocation of public contracts,
- (d) Support all relevant Council priorities and policies including the Medium Term Financial Plan,
- (e) Be funded through the allocation of an appropriately established budget,
- (f) Comply with the Council's Procurement Strategy, the Social Value Policy and Sustainable Buying Standards, and:
- (g) Comply with all legislative requirements including European Union (EU) Treaty principles, applicable legislative principles of international trading countries and the UK, including amendment regulations, which in relation to procurement are as follows:
 - transparency contract procedures must be transparent and contract opportunities should generally be publicised;
 - equal treatment and non-discrimination potential suppliers must be treated equally;
 - proportionality procurement procedures and decisions must be proportionate;
 - mutual recognition giving equal validity to qualifications and standards from other <u>Member Statestrading countries</u>, where appropriate.
- 2.2 These Rules shall be applied to the contracting activities of any partnership for which the Council is the accountable body unless the Council expressly agrees otherwise.

3. OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES

3.1 Officers

3.1.1 Officers will comply with these Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs), the Council's Constitution and with all relevant legal requirements. Officers must ensure that any agents, consultants and contractual partners acting on their behalf also comply.



- 3.1.2 Officers will:
 - (a) Have regard to the guidance in the Advice Centre,
 - (b) Keep the records required by Rule 19 of these CPRs,
 - (c) Take all necessary procurement, legal, financial and professional advice, taking into account the requirements of these CPRs,
 - (d) Prior to letting a contract on behalf the Council, check whether:
 - the Council already has an appropriate contract in place in the Corporate Contracts Register, or:
 - an appropriate national, regional or other collaborative contract is already in place.

Where the Council already has an appropriate contract in place, then this <u>must</u> be used unless it can be established that the contract does not fully meet the Council's specific requirements in this particular case, and this is agreed following consultation with Corporate Procurement.

Where an appropriate national, regional or collaborative contract is available, consideration should be given to using this, provided the contract offers value for money.

- (e) Ensure that when any employee, either of the Council or of a service provider, may be affected by any transfer arrangement, then any Transfer of Undertaking (Protection of Employment) (TUPE) and Pensions issues are considered and legal and HR advice from within the Council is obtained prior to proceeding with the procurement exercise.
- 3.1.3 Failure to comply with any of the provisions of these CPRs, the Council's Constitution or legal requirements may be brought to the attention of the Monitoring Officer, Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager, or relevant Corporate Director as appropriate. Depending on the nature of the non-compliance this may result in disciplinary action being taken.
- 3.1.4 In cases of non-compliance with these CPRs, the Chief Procurement Officer may, following consultation with the officer's Head of Service, temporarily or permanently suspend any officer's access to the Oracle system, e-tendering system, and use of purchasing cards or other payment mechanisms.
- 3.1.5 In addition, in cases of serious non-compliance, the Chief Procurement Officer may temporarily suspend any officer's delegated authority to place contracts, and refer the matter to the Council's Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager for further investigation.

3.2 Chief Officers

- 3.2.1 Chief Officers will:
 - (a) Ensure their Service Grouping complies fully with the requirements of these CPRs,
 - (b) Ensure contracts are recorded in the corporate Contracts Register as held and maintained by Corporate Procurement, through the use of the Procurement Acceptance Report as detailed in Rule 19,
 - (c) Ensure that their Service Grouping provides the requisite information to allow the Council to maintain the Procurement Work Programme, including the submission of a Procurement Initial Request Form at as early a stage as possible.

Procurement Requests can be made via the Advice Centre along with documentation for Procurement Acceptance Report and Delegated Decision Records.

4. VARIATIONS TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES

- 4.1 Except where the PCRs (2015) apply, the Executive has the power to waive any requirements within these CPRs for specific projects.
- 4.2 Additionally, and where proceeding under a Variation does not breach the Public Contracts Regulations (2015), these Rules may be waived or varied where the circumstances are certified by the Corporate Director, Resources (advised as appropriate by the Chief Procurement Officer) as meeting any of the following criteria:
 - (a) with an organisation already engaged by the Council for a similar and related procurement and where there is significant benefit to extending the contract to cover this additional requirement, without exposing the Council to unacceptable risk;
 - (b) involving cases of genuine, unforeseen urgency, where it is not possible to comply with the CPRs;
 - (c) for the purchase of a work of art or museum specimen, to meet the specific requirements of an artistic, cultural, or performing arts event, or otherwise for the protection of exclusive rights which cannot be procured competitively due to the nature of the requirement;



- (d) in relation to time-limited grant funding from an external body, where the time limitations will not allow a competitive procurement process to be completed and where the grant conditions allow this; or
- (e) where relevant UK or EU legislation not otherwise referred to in these CPRs prevents the usual procurement process from being followed.
- 4.3 The appropriate Officer must complete an Application for Variation, which must be authorised by their Head of Service before being submitted to Corporate Procurement. Corporate Procurement will review the Application for Variation before obtaining a decision from the Corporate Director, Resources (or other officer as delegated).
- 4.4 Committing to expenditure with a supplier, without a valid contract or a Variation in place, is a breach of these CPRs. Therefore, where a Variation is being sought retrospectively for expenditure to which a Service Area has committed, their Corporate Director must authorise the variation request by exercising their delegated powers in order that Corporate Procurement may publicly record the contract and authorise payments, and to make them aware of the breach, before it is submitted to Corporate Procurement.
- 4.5 Every Variation form will be recorded on a master register to be maintained by Corporate Procurement.
- 4.6 Where a Variation is being applied for by Corporate Procurement, it may also be scrutinised by Internal Audit, to ensure the robustness of the procedure.
- 4.7 The use of e-procurement does not negate the requirement to comply with all elements of these CPRs. The circumstances under which an exemption to the use of e-procurement can be requested are detailed in Rule 12.
- 4.8 Where a service area has requested and been approved a Variation to these rules the service area must undertake due diligence regarding the supply organisation including the agreement of Terms and Conditions to ensure risk to the Council is mitigated.

5. **EXEMPTIONS**

- 5.1 The following contracts and/or payments are exempt from these CPRs:
 - (a) Contracts for the execution of mandatory works by statutory undertakers, where the statutory undertaker is the only body which can perform the works. Such statutory undertakers include:
 - i. British Telecom specifically for telecoms infrastructure works.
 - Network Rail specifically for works affecting the railway infrastructure.

- iii. Northern Gas Networks specifically for gas supply infrastructure works.
- iv. Northern PowerGrid specifically for electricity infrastructure works.
- v. Northumbria Water specifically for water and sewerage infrastructure works.
- vi. Highways England specifically for works to the core road network under their management.
- (b) Statutory fees payable:
 - i. to the Driver & Vehicle Licensing Agency and/or Drive & Vehicle Standards Agency (formerly VOSA).
 - ii. to the Disclosure & Barring Service.
 - iii. to the Care Quality Commission under section 85(1) of the Health and Social Care Act 2008.
 - iv. set by government for education or inter-agency adoption funding.
 - v. to Ofsted for the inspection of a school, children's home, or other facility,
 - vi. for TV licenses in Council owned or operated premises.
 - vii. for Phonographic Performance Ltd or PRS for Music, for the playing of recorded music in public, or for the use of the musical composition and lyrics in that recording.
 - viii. to NHS Business Services Authority for prescription charges.
 - ix. for fees incurred for Parking Charge Notices issued by the Council.
 - x. Fees payable to Public Health England with respect to the Child Death Notification Service.
 - xi. Payments in relation to external auditors as directed by central government.
 - xi.Payments for documents, document certification and authentication
services, which may only be provided by notaries, or from the
issuing authority, such as the General Registry Office or HM
Passport Office.
- (c) For the creation of imprest account relating to contracts let that have followed a compliant procurement process.
- (d) Contracts for the carrying out of statutory public health funerals under the Part 3 of the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984.
- (e) Payment for the services of veterinary experts for the emergency care of <u>animals.</u>

- (fe) Contracts for the purchase of newspaper advertising for statutory notices, and contracts for the purchase of broadcasting time, including for the placing of radio and television advertising.
- (gf) Contracts to provide sponsorship to events, awards schemes, or other promotional activity being organised by a third party.
- (hg) Fees payable in advance on an annual basis for publications, access to online information and membership fees, only delivered by the publishing body, and membership fees of a recognised industry body membership programme. Use of this exemption must be followed up with a Procurement Acceptance Report as detailed in Rule 19.
- (ih) Contracts for actors or performers to meet the specific requirements of an artistic, cultural, or performing arts event being organised by the council.
- (ji) Contracts of employment which make an individual a direct employee of the authority.
- (kj) A staff secondment, where an employee of another organisation shall work on a Council project, on a temporary basis, but where they will not become an employee of the Council.

NB: While the CPRs do not apply to staff secondments, authorisation to proceed must be obtained from Human Resources, and the terms of the secondment appropriately documented.

- (Ik) Contracts for legal representation by a lawyer (advocate, barrister, or solicitor) in arbitration or conciliation proceedings, judicial proceedings before the courts, tribunals or public authorities of an EU member state or third country or before international courts, tribunals or institutions. <u>Also, including payments for legal advice given by a lawyer, or other</u> <u>expert opinion requested, in preparation for, or connected to, any of the</u> <u>proceedings mentioned above.</u>
- (<u>ml</u>) Payments for legal advice given by a lawyer, or other expert opinion requested, in preparation for, or connected to, any of the proceedings mentioned in (k) above.
- (m) Payments for documents, document certification and authentication services, which may only be provided by notaries, or from the issuing authority, such as the General Registry Office, HM Passport Office.
- (<u>m</u>n) Payments for legal services provided by trustees or appointed guardians or other legal services, the providers of which are designated by a court or tribunal.

- (<u>n</u>e) Fees payable to Durham Constabulary to cover the cost of additional policing presence at public events or for temporary public safety purposes.
- (Op) Appointment of independent planning inspectors nominated by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) under the NPIERS scheme.
- (pq) Fees payable to a qualification awarding body for a professional or vocational qualification being undertaken by a Council Officer with the support of the Council.
- (Qr) Accreditation and membership, fees payable to an awarding or professional body for the accreditation or certification, or fees for services required to undertake a service being provided by the Council.
- (<u>r</u>s) Fees payable for Royal Mail postage, including franking machine credits, and for financial transaction services required by the Council.
- (<u>st</u>) Agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land (to which the Financial Procedure Rules apply), or:
- $(\underline{t} \mathbf{u})$ The payment of grants to third parties.

NB: While grants are not covered by these CPRs, there are rules on the awarding of grants which do need to be observed. The Council cannot simply choose to treat a procurement as a grant in order to avoid conducting a competitive process. Officers should follow any guidance contained in the Advice Centre.

- (<u>u</u>+) Where the Council is providing a payment processing facility to a nonprofit body, and where this does <u>not</u> make the Council the accountable body for the contracts or transactions in question.
- (⊻₩) Payments for services with regard to high needs or special education (including maintained schools Communities of Learning and Behaviour Panels), social care, health, safeguarding, or urgent operational needs, if in the opinion of the relevant Corporate Director it is considered to be in the Council's interests or necessary to meet the authority's obligations under relevant legislation. Use of this exemption by the relevant Corporate Director must be followed up with a Procurement Acceptance Report as detailed in Rule 19.
- (<u>w</u>*) Those relating to residential and/or nursing care, or independent living services, to a person or persons to whom the Council has a duty or power to provide under the Care Act 2014, and other relevant legislation relating to, homelessness, social care, health and safeguarding. Use of this exemption by the relevant Corporate Director must be followed up with a Procurement Acceptance Report as detailed in Rule 19.

(XY) Services relating to health care as defined by the Health Care Services (Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2022 will be applied removing those health care services from regulation under the PCRs. Use of this exemption by the relevant Corporate Director must be followed up with a Procurement Acceptance Report as detailed in Rule 19.

6. RELEVANT CONTRACTS

6.1 All Relevant Contracts must comply with these CPRs. A Relevant Contract is any arrangement made by, or on behalf of, the Council for the supply of goods, or the carrying out of works or services.

These include arrangements for:

- (a) The supply or disposal of goods,
- (b) The hire, rental or lease of goods and equipment,
- (c) The delivery of services, including (but not limited to) those related to:
 - the recruitment of staff
 - land and property transactions
 - financial and consultancy services
- 6.2 A contract awarded under a Variation to these CPRs (as per Rule 4) remains a Relevant Contract in all aspects other than those elements of the CPRs which were specifically waived.

7. RISK ASSESSMENT

- 7.1 Projects of strategic importance, high value, or complexity require appropriate risk assessments to be undertaken, in line with Corporate Risk Management. The project risk assessment must be undertaken by the Service Area. Any procurement activity risks will be managed through the Council's procurement processes. The project risk assessments will identify where further specialist advice should be sought.
- 7.2 In order to ensure the Council meets its duties under the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012, there must be an appraisal of the opportunities to address social value outcomes through the proposed procurement, which may include a separate social value opportunity assessment.
- 7.3 Full details of the process to be followed, including the approved risk log, matrix, and social value options appraisal, are available in the Advice Centre.
- 8. PRE-TENDER MARKET TESTING AND CONSULTATION



- 8.1 The Council should seek to consult the potential supplier market, prior to the issue of the Invitation to Tender or Request for Quotation, in general terms about the nature, level and standard of the supply, contract packaging and other relevant matters, provided this does not prejudice any potential organisation.
- 8.2 Sufficient lead-in time must be built into any major procurement project to allow for adequate pre-tender market testing.
- 8.3 When engaging with potential suppliers, the Council must not seek or accept technical advice on the preparation of an Invitation to Tender or Quotation from anyone who may have a commercial interest in them, and where this may prejudice the equal treatment of all potential bidding organisations or distort competition.
- 8.4 In undertaking any market testing activities, the Officer responsible should refer to any guidance contained in the Advice Centre.

9. COMPETITION REQUIREMENTS

9.1 Competition Requirements

- 9.1.1 The Procurement Officer must establish the total value of the procurement including whole life costs and incorporating any potential extension periods which may be awarded.
- 9.1.2 Based on this value, quotations or tenders must then be invited, and appropriately advertised, in line with the financial thresholds detailed in the Advice Centre.
- 9.1.3 Where Part 2 of the PCRs applies (i.e. for any contracts likely to exceed the relevant PCRs threshold), the Procurement Officer must determine, prior to advertising, whether the contract is to be divided into lots. If it is decided not to subdivide the contract into lots, the reason for this decision must be recorded in the Procurement Acceptance Report required by Rule 19.
- 9.1.4 Where Part 2 of the Public Contracts Regulations (2015) applies (i.e., for any contracts likely to exceed the relevant PCRs threshold), Corporate Procurement shall determine the procedure for conducting the procurement exercise.
- 9.1.5 The procurement process and approach set out in 9.1.2 can be varied on an exception basis if it is consistent with an approach permitted by a Cabinet Office Procurement Policy Note and this is approved by a Procurement Officer in advance of any approach to market.



9.2 Negotiation with a Single Supplier (below PCRs)

- 9.2.1 In exceptional circumstances, a contract which will not exceed the relevant PCRs threshold may be awarded without a competitive procurement, via direct negotiation with a single supplier, following a similar process to the PCRs Regulation 32, Negotiated Procedure without prior publication.
- 9.2.2 Such an award may **only** be made directly by, or with written approval from, Corporate Procurement, and **only** in the following circumstances:
 - (a) for the purchase of goods which are patented or have such special technical characteristics that they may be considered unique, and where these goods are only available from one supplier; including cases where technical compatibility is required with an existing requirement that has been previously competitively procured;

(Note that the presence of a patent alone does not permit the use of this procedure – many patented products are available from more than one supplier);

Or:

(b) for the execution of works or services involving unique, highly specialist knowledge or skills and where it can be demonstrated that only one organisation possesses the required knowledge or skills:

Or:

(c) for the execution of works or services, where there is considerable benefit to the Council in negotiating with a particular proposed supplier, and where this does not expose the Council to unacceptable risk.

Or:

- (d) where an open or restricted Tender, or an openly advertised Request for Quotation, has been undertaken, and in which no compliant bids were received.
- 9.2.3 The use of this process may be invalidated by prior negotiation or discussion (of any kind), between a Service Area and a proposed supplier, without the involvement of Corporate Procurement, where such negotiation may distort or restrict the potential market or otherwise prejudice the Council's position. Corporate Procurement reserves the right to refuse the award of a contract via this process where such unauthorised negotiation has taken place. Where a service area has been notified by Corporate Procurement that they may contract with a proposed supplier the service area must undertake due diligence regarding the supply organisation including the agreement of Terms





and Conditions, that may require seeking advice from Legal Services, to ensure risk to the Council is mitigated.

9.2.4 Contracts awarded under the provisions of this Rule may have a duration of no more than three years, unless agreed in writing with the Chief Procurement Officer.

NB Note that when using Rule 9.2 above, no contract may be entered into until the relevant notification has been issued by Corporate Procurement, as set out in Rule 19.3.

10. INVITATION TO TENDER / REQUEST FOR QUOTATION

- 10.1 Invitations to Tender, Requests for Quotation, Further Competitions and Quick Quotes must be issued in accordance with the requirements of these CPRs, with particular attention to Rule 7, Rule 9 and Rule 17. The Procurement Officer must ensure they are familiar with, and adhere to, the minimum current threshold values, as published on the Advice Centre.
- 10.2 Above the single quotation threshold, all Invitations to Tender, Requests for Quotation and Quick Quotes must be issued via the Council's e-tendering system. Procurement documents must be issued via the e-tendering system.
- 10.3 Where Quick Quotes are used the service area must, as first option, identify 2 Durham based organisations to be invited to the Quick Quotes competition issued via the Council's e-tendering system.
- 10.4 In exceptional cases, where specific circumstances mean that a procurement process cannot be carried out electronically or, for example, where there is a failure of the electronic system, and where the value is below the relevant PCRs financial threshold, permission to conduct a procurement process by alternative means must be obtained from the Chief Procurement Officer using the relevant exemption form. This can be found in the Advice Centre. This exemption must be sought before requesting quotations or tenders.
- 10.5 When advertising a contract, the Procurement Officer will also ensure that a notice is placed on the Contracts Finder website, as required by Regulations 106 and 110 of the PCRs (2015).

11. SHORTLISTING

11.1 Any shortlisting (i.e. Selection Questionnaire (SQ) must have regard to the economic, financial and technical standards relevant to the contract and the Evaluation Criteria. Special rules apply to contracts covered by the PCRs (2015) and must be issued using the Council's version of the Government Standard Selection Questionnaire template. Officers should refer to any further guidance contained in the Advice Centre.



- 11.2 Where the likely value of the procurement is less than the PCRs threshold for *goods and services* (even where the contract is not for goods or services), no shortlisting phase or SQ may be used.
- 11.3 Where applying financial turnover threshold as a shortlisting criteria, the threshold used must be no more than two times the estimated total value of the proposed contract.
- 11.4 When shortlisting as part of a Restricted tender process, a minimum of five bidding organisations should be shortlisted to tender, except in cases where fewer than five compliant SQ responses are received, or minimum threshold advised is not met. In a Competitive Dialogue or Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, the minimum shall be three, except in cases where fewer than three compliant SQ responses are received.

12. SUBMISSION, RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS

12.1 Tenders

- 12.1.1 Bidding organisations must be given an adequate period in which to prepare and submit a proper quotation or tender, consistent with the complexity of the contract requirements. Where Part 2 of the PCRs (2015) applies, Chapter 2 of the Regulations lays down specific minimum time periods for tenders.
- 12.1.2 As in Rule 10 (above) tenders, except those which have been approved as exempt from electronic tendering, must be submitted electronically via the etendering system. Tenders submitted by any other means must not be accepted.

12.2 Quotations

12.2.1 As in Rule 10 (above), responses to Requests for Quotation and Quick Quotes must be submitted electronically via the e-tendering system, except where specifically exempt under Rule 10.4. Quotations submitted by any other means must not be accepted.

12.3 Electronic Arrangements

12.3.1 Submissions which are received electronically via the e-tendering system will be opened by the Procurement Officer. The system will not allow any submissions to be opened until the allocated return date / time has passed.

12.4 Hard Copy Arrangements





- 12.4.1 In the event that 'hard copy' tenders are to be accepted (see Rule 10 and Rule 12.1.2 of these CPRs for guidance) these must be submitted, sealed, in the envelope provided with the procurement documents and sent by recorded delivery, addressed to the Head of Legal & Democratic Services at the Council's registered business address, without any mark revealing the bidding organisation's identity. Hard copy tenders submitted by any other means will not be accepted.
- 12.4.2 All hard copy tenders will be held by the Head of Legal & Democratic Services until the tender opening date/time has been reached.
- 12.4.3 All hard copy tenders for the same contract will be opened at the same time by a representative of the Chief Officer who invited the tenders and a representative from Legal & Democratic Services. A register of tenders received will be kept by Legal & Democratic Services and will be initialled on each occasion by the officers who are present at the opening of the tenders.
- 12.4.4 In the event that hard copy quotations are to be accepted (see Rule 10 and Rule 12.2.1 of these CPRs for guidance) these must be submitted in a plain envelope marked 'Quotation for....' followed by a description of the goods, works or services being procured.
- 12.4.5 Hard copy quotations will be received directly by Legal and Democratic Services. All quotations must be opened together once the official return date / time has been passed.

12.5 Late Submissions

- 12.5.1 Tenders, Quotations or Selection Questionnaires which are received after the stated deadline shall be automatically rejected, except in the following circumstances:
 - (a) Where the delay in submission is the result of a failure of the electronic system, and where this can be verified to be the case, or:
 - (b) Where only one submission is received, and where this submission has arrived late, but is compliant in every other respect, and with the approval of Corporate Procurement.

13. EVALUATION CRITERIA AND STANDARDS

13.1 Evaluation Criteria

- 13.1.1 In any procurement exercise the successful bid should be the one which either:
 - (a) Offers the lowest price, or:



(b) Offers the most economically advantageous balance between quality, price and social value, as applicable.

In the latter case, the Council will use criteria linked to the subject matter of the contract to determine that an offer is the most economically advantageous, for example: price, quality, technical merit, aesthetic and functional characteristics, environmental characteristics, running costs, cost effectiveness, after-sales service, technical assistance, delivery date, delivery period and period of completion.

- 13.1.2 Issues that are important to the Council in terms of meeting its corporate objectives can be used to evaluate bids. The criteria can include, for example sustainability considerations, support for the local economy, or the use of subcontractors. The bidding organisations' approaches to continuous improvement and setting targets for service improvement or future savings could also be included. All criteria must relate to the subject matter of the contract, be in line with the Council's corporate objectives and must be objectively quantifiable and non-discriminatory.
- 13.1.3 These criteria should be assessed through either:
 - (a) Essential Criteria assessed on a pass / fail basis, or:
 - (b) Technical Questions assessed on a scored basis.
- 13.1.4 The procurement documentation should clearly explain the basis of the decision to bidding organisations, making clear how the evaluation criteria specified in the process will be applied, the overall weightings to be attached to each of the high-level criteria, how the high-level criteria are divided into any sub-criteria and the weightings attached to each of those sub-criteria.

13.2 Evaluation Panel

- 13.2.1 The Procurement Officer should establish an evaluation panel for the assessment of any Technical Questions at shortlisting and/or Invitation to Tender stages. Each element of the evaluation may have its own panel, provided that all of the responses to each Technical Question are evaluated by the same panel members.
- 13.2.2 The panel should have at least two members. The Procurement Officer should act as moderator and may also take part in the evaluation.

Officers should refer to any further guidance in the Advice Centre.

13.3 Evaluation

13.3.1 The evaluation of bids must be conducted in accordance with the evaluation criteria set out in the procurement documents provided to bidding



organisations. Evaluation should be conducted in line with Rules 13.1 and 13.2 above, and with regard any guidance detailed in the Advice Centre.

13.4 Standards

13.4.1 Relevant British, EU and International standards which apply to the subject matter of the contract and which are necessary to properly describe the required quality must be included with the contract.

Officers should refer to any further guidance in the Advice Centre.

14. CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES

- 14.1 The Council can ask bidding organisations for clarification of any details submitted as part of their bid. However, any such clarification must not involve changes to the basic features of the bidding organisation's submission.
- 14.2 Clarification questions must be raised via the e-tendering system. Bidders must also be asked to respond via the e-tendering system. In cases where an e-tender exemption has been granted under Rule 10.4, the Council should ensure any clarifications are requested in writing, or by e-mail, and bidding organisations asked to respond by the same means.
- 14.3 When requesting clarification, the Procurement Officer must follow any additional guidance contained in the Advice Centre.

15. AWARD OF CONTRACT, AND DEBRIEFING OF ORGANISATIONS

15.1 Award of Contract

- 15.1.1 The Council is required to notify successful and unsuccessful bidders of the outcome of a procurement process, in writing, in as timely a fashion as possible. These written notifications should be transmitted via the e-tendering system unless a specific exemption has been granted under Rule 10.4.
- 15.1.2 Where procurement has been subject to the Public Contract Regulations (2015), the Alcatel Standstill (a 10 day standstill period before a contract can be awarded to allow an unsuccessful bidding organisation an opportunity to challenge the proposed contract award) shall be included in the procurement timetable and observed before the contract can be awarded. Full information regarding the Alcatel Standstill is contained within the Advice Centre.
- 15.1.3 Decisions on award of contract must be made in accordance with the scheme of delegations in Part 3 of the Constitution.

15.2 Debriefing

- 15.2.1 The written notifications sent to bidders, in accordance with Rule 15.1.1 above, shall include feedback explaining the outcome of the evaluation process, with specific reference to the evaluation criteria, so that bidders can understand why they were, or were not, successful.
- 15.2.2 The Procurement Officer should follow any additional guidance in the Advice Centre.

15.3 Notification of Awarded Contracts on Contracts Finder

15.3.1 For all contract awards with a value of £25,000 (less VAT) or greater, the Procurement Officer shall issue a notice on the Contracts Finder website, giving details of the contract award, as required by Regulations 108 and 112 of the Public Contracts Regulations (2015). This includes any contracts awarded without prior advertisement, as well as contracts awarded via a Further Competition.

16. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

16.1 Format of Contract Documents

16.1.1 The Council's harmonised procurement documents or conditions issued by a relevant professional body will be used. Where there is any deviation from these, the documents to be used must be reviewed by Legal Services before being issued. These are available from Corporate Procurement or Service Area procurement staff detailed in the Advice Centre.

16.2 Contract Signature

- 16.2.1 Contract signature must be undertaken as expressly stated in the contract terms and conditions, this would be:
 - (a) Where the contract is in the form of a deed, be made under the Council's seal and attested as required by the Constitution, or:
 - (b) Where the contract is in the form of an agreement, either:
 - (i) be signed by at least two officers of the Council authorised as required by the Constitution, or:
 - (ii) be formalised by the sending of an award letter **and** the subsequent issuing of a purchase order.

The Procurement Officer should also follow any guidance on the use of deeds and agreements, and / or electronic signature as found in the Advice Centre.

16.3 Legal Services Review of Tenders and Contracts

16.3.1 To ensure the integrity of the procurement process:

- (a) All proposed Invitations to Tender, Requests for Quotation or Quick Quote where they are not in compliance with the County Council's harmonised contract documentation or standard terms and conditions issued by a relevant professional body, will be reviewed by Legal Services.
- (b) Any proposed Invitations to Tender which are the relevant PCRs advertising threshold, and which are deemed by Corporate Procurement to be of medium or high risk, must be reviewed by Legal Services.
- (c) Any proposed contract where there is any deviation from the contract terms included in the invitation to tender must be reviewed by Legal Services.

17. APPROVED LISTS AND FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS

17.1 Approved Lists

17.1.1 Approved lists must not be used where they are prohibited under the Public Contracts Regulations (2015).

17.2 Framework Agreements

- 17.2.1 Framework Agreements are agreements between the Council and one or more suppliers for the provision of goods, works or services on agreed terms for a specific period, for estimated quantities against which orders may be placed if and when required during the contract period.
- 17.2.2 The term of a Framework Agreement must not exceed four years, except where:
 - (a) a longer duration is permitted under the terms of the light-touch rules for social and other specific services set out in Part 2, Chapter 3 of the Public Contracts Regulations (2015), or
 - (b) where exceptional circumstances justify a longer duration, as provided for in Regulation 33(3) of the Public Contracts Regulations (2015).
- 17.2.3 Where Frameworks are established with several organisations, contracts based on Framework Agreements may be awarded in one of two ways, as follows:

- (b) Where the terms of the agreement are sufficiently precise to cover the particular call-off, by applying the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement without re-opening competition, or:
- (c) Where the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement are not precise or complete enough for the particular call-off, by holding a further competition in accordance with the following procedure:
 - inviting the organisations within the Framework Agreement, that are capable of executing the subject of the contract, to submit bids electronically via the Further Competition step on the e-tendering system, with an appropriate time limit for responses, taking into account factors such as the complexity of the subject of the contract,
 - awarding each contract to the bidding organisation who has submitted the best bid on the basis of the relevant Award Criteria set out in the Framework Agreement.

18. SUB-CONTRACTORS

- 18.1 This Rule applies to all contracts:
 - (a) for works, where the value is above the PCRs works threshold, or:
 - (b) for services, where the value is above the PCRs services threshold, and where the services are to be provided at sites or premises managed by the Council.
- 18.2 Where this Rule applies, following the decision to award the contract, but before the contract commences, the Procurement Officer must obtain the following details, from the winning supplier(s):
 - The names and business addresses of any sub-contractor(s) the supplier intends to utilise in the delivery of any part of the works or services.
 - The name and address of the legal representatives of each such subcontractor.
 - Information to verify each sub-contractor's compliance with the mandatory and discretionary grounds for exclusion listed in Regulation 57 of the PCRs 2015.
- 18.3 Where it is identified, as a result of the above procedure, that a sub-contractor is in breach of any of the mandatory grounds for exclusion, the supplier <u>must</u> be required to dismiss that sub-contractor from any involvement in the contract. The supplier should appoint a replacement sub-contractor, for which the information in 18.2 above must then be obtained and verified.





18.4 Where it is identified that a sub-contractor is in breach of a discretionary ground for exclusion, the Council may, at its discretion, require the sub-contractor to be dismissed and a suitable replacement appointed.

19. RECORDS

- 19.1 The Public Contracts Regulations (2015) require contracting authorities to maintain the following comprehensive records of procurement activities:
 - (a) Any proposed contract details including value
 - (b) Selection decision
 - (c) Justification for use of the selected procedure
 - (d) Names of bidding organisations, both successful and unsuccessful
 - (e) Reasons for selection
 - (f) Reasons for abandoning a procedure.
- 19.2 Prior to the contract being formally awarded, and prior to any bidding organisation(s) being notified, the result of any competitive procurement process must be recorded in a Procurement Acceptance Report with Delegated Decision and submitted to Corporate Procurement. Corporate Procurement will maintain a register of all Procurement Acceptance Reports. Information from Procurement Acceptance Reports will also be used for the tracking of procurement savings, sustainability benefits, and other data.
- 19.3 Following receipt of the correctly completed Procurement Acceptance Report, Corporate Procurement will issue a notification to the Procurement Officer, and other relevant officers. Only once this notification has been issued should the contract be formally awarded.
- 19.4 Following the signature of the contract documents, the Procurement Officer shall ensure a copy of the signed contract particulars is retained on the e-tendering system for future reference and audit purposes.
- 19.5 Where a current contract requires modification and this includes an increase in contract spend, then this must be reported to Corporate Procurement in line with Guidance Note 16, Varying and Modifying Contracts (Advice Centre). Any contract value increase must be accompanied with appropriate Delegated Officer Approval.

Additional records management advice is contained in the Advice Centre.

20. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION & DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

20.1 Rules and regulations pertaining to the prevention of corruption are outlined in the Council's Financial Procedure Rules and must be adhered to.



20.2 Rules and regulations pertaining to the Declaration of Interests are outlined in the Code of Conduct for Employees within the Constitution and must be adhered to.

21. CONTRACT MANAGEMENT / MONITORING

- 21.1 All contracts must have an appointed Contract Manager. The responsible Head of Service must ensure a Contract Manager is designated prior to award. All due diligence and monitoring of contract delivery shall be the responsibility of the designated Contract Manager for the entirety of the contract.
- 21.2 The Contract Manager must ensure they track the extension periods and expiry dates of contracts under their responsibility, to ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place to maintain contract coverage where ongoing requirements exist.
- 21.3 Where an original Procurement Acceptance Report does not include all extension options and contract values (for example where there is no current schedule end date), then the Contract Manager must submit the appropriate procurement extension report to identify contract extension period and the additional budget. This must be authorised via the Service's Principal Accountant and recorded with an appropriate Delegated Decision Record.
- 21.4 Contract management, monitoring, evaluation and review must be conducted in line with guidance detailed in the Advice Centre.

22. INTERNAL PROVIDERS

- 22.1 Where a Service Area intends to procure goods, services, or works which could potentially be delivered by an in-house provider, the commissioning service shall consult with that in-house provider before proceeding to issue any Invitation to Tender, Request for Quotation, or Quick Quote.
- 22.2 If the in-house provider has the capability and capacity to meet the requirement and can deliver this within the appropriately established budget allocated by the commissioning service, then the in-house service must be used, and no procurement exercise should take place. A procurement exercise via the e-tendering system should only be undertaken if it can be established that the in-house service cannot meet the requirement (or if it has been previously agreed by the appropriate Head of Service that external contractors may be engaged as part of an out-sourcing study or project).
- 22.3 Where an in-house provider is bidding in competition for the provision of goods, works or services, care must be taken to ensure a fair process between the in-house provider and external bidding organisations.



22.4 The Procurement Officer should follow any additional guidance in the Advice Centre.

23. EXTERNAL BODY GRANT FUNDING

- 23.1 Where a procurement process is funded, in whole or part, by grant funding which has been awarded to the Council by an external funding body, the Procurement Officer must ensure that any rules or grant conditions imposed by the funding body are adhered to, in addition to the requirements of these CPRs.
- 23.2 Where there is any conflict between these CPRs and the rules or conditions imposed by the funding body, the stricter requirement should be followed. Where there is any doubt over which requirement should be followed, the guidance should be sought from Legal & Democratic Services before proceeding.
- 23.3 Where a procurement process is funded, in whole or part, by grant funding, a Grant Authorisation Form must be completed as detailed in the Advice Centre.
- 23.4 Where a Service is bidding for external funding, they must seek advice from Corporate Procurement before including a third-party supplier in their bid application.

24. REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF CPRS

These Contract Procedure Rules shall be reviewed and updated on an annual basis as part of the annual review of the Constitution.